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HISTORICAL  STUDY



1. INTRODUCTION




This Historical Study has been prepared as documentation support for the investment objective

,,Cluj-Napoca  Citadel Arrangement",  upon request of Cluj-Napoca Municipality. The object of study of this memorandum is the study of the ensemble on the List of Historic Monuments in Romania with the code CJ-II-a-A-07240,    referring to the area comprised between Cetății Street, Călărașilor Street and Șerpuitoare Street, but it does not include the Southern slope of the hill to Dragalina Street.
The sources used for drawing up this memorandum are the specific sources of art history, which are detailed in the critical part of the documentation (footnotes in the page footer and in the final chapter). The most important sources were the documents and archive plans of the Citadel („Cetățuia”) and Cluj, respectively photographs of that time.
As far as the construction stages of this ensemble are concerned, they have been studied in specialist historiography by numerous researchers. The most important studies presenting in detail the historical data of the Citadel are the following works:  Țoca,  Mircea,  „ Clujul baroc” (Baroque Cluj), Dacia Publishing House, Cluj-Napoca, 1983, pp. 21-24; Sabău, Nicolae, „Giovanni Morando Visconti in Transilvania. Intorno a un piano inedito per „il Castello" di Cluj", in Sabău, Nicolae (ed.), Maestri Ticinesi  In Transilvania  Tra Cinquecento  e Settecento, Mega Publishing House, Cluj-Napoca, 2007, pp.
51-79.

This Historical Study, supported by the critical apparatus and the illustrations included in the text, aims at presenting in detail the History of the construction stages and transformations suffered by
„Cetățuia Clujului” (the Citadel of Cluj), based on the information collected from the primary sources and specialized historiography, along with the analysis from a morphological and stylistic point of view of the elements of the ensemble that have been preserved up to now. These data are preceded by a subchapter presenting the Historical background, represented by the Establishment of the Habsburg rule in Transylvania and Cluj. Furthermore, an Inventory of valuables of the ensemble was prepared, together with a set of Recommendations, correlated with the findings of the in situ research.

However, we note the need for the expertise reports and interventions to be carried out on this ensemble to be supervised by the specialist, so that the new information that will appear along the way to complete this study.
 (
4
) (
H
I
S
T
O
R
I
C
AL
 
 
S
T
U
D
Y
 
-
 
CL
U
J
-
N
A
P
O
C
A
 
C
I
T
A
D
E
L
,
B
E
N
E
F
I
C
I
A
R
Y
:
 
C
L
U
J
-
N
A
P
O
C
A
 
 
C
I
T
Y
)






2. HISTORICAL BACKGROUND



2.1. ESTABLISHMENT OF THE HABSBURG RULE IN TRANSYLVANIA AND CLUJ

In  the  seventeenth  century,  the  most  important  areas  of  Cluj's  life  recorded  a  still  stand  as  a consequence of the political situation created after the occupation of Oradea by the Turks and its transformation into a Pashalik in 1660. Once it reached the situation of the „marginal citadel”, Cluj loses its status of a free-royal city in exchange for the status of a nobiliary city (oppidum nobelium), with significant consequences.1

But the defeat of the Turks under the walls of Vienna in 1683 by the Austro-Polish coalition led to the opening to Austria of the path of conquests in Eastern Europe, which will inaugurate a new stage in the history of Cluj.2  Austria now concentrates all its powers to occupy new territories in Southeast Europe. In
1686 the Austrian army crossed the borders of Transylvania's autonomous principality under the suzerainty of the Ottoman Porte, taking control of Cluj and Dej, and continuing to Sibiu, with the pretext of defending against Turkish and Tartar attacks.3  Under these conditions, in the capital of the empire, the representatives of the principality are forced to sign on 28 June 1686, the Hallerian Treaty, an agreement by which - in return
for the recognition of Mihaly Apafi as the prince and of his son as heir - Transylvania passes under the protection of the Emperor and, in order to guarantee the agreement, Habsburg garrisons are installed in Cluj
and Deva.4
As a result, the troops enter Cluj and impose shortly the Blaj Treaty (2 October 1687), which, among other obligations, provided for the quartering and maintenance of the Austrian troops in 12 cities and towns, and Cluj was among them. The actual occupation of the 12 cities and fortresses in the treaty followed a year later, and the Austro-Turkish peace of Karlowitz on 26 January 1699 fully sanctioned the establishment of the Habsburg rule over the principality of Transylvania.5

Cluj maintains in this period also its position as an important political, economic, cultural and artistic centre of the principality, being the residence of the Government in the periods 1695-1697, 1719-1732 and definitively since 1790.6


2.2. GENERAL URBANISTIC AND ARCHITECTURAL  CONSIDERATIONS  OF CLUJ IN THE EIGHTEENTH CENTURY

Changes in rules, dramatic events and calamities that followed from the end of the 17th century strongly


1 Mircea Țoca, Clujul baroc, Editura Dacia, Cluj-Napoca, 1983, p. 9.
2 Ibidem.
3 Ibidem.
4 Ibidem, p. 10.
5 Ibidem.
6 Ibidem, pp. 10-11.



marked the appearance of the city. Thus, a large part of the buildings of Cluj were consumed by the great fire of 1697. During the Rákóczi uprising, there were many battles near the city of Cluj (1704), which devastated the suburbs and affected the city's defence walls, and during the 1784 uprising the city suffered from frequent arson. A large number of wooden or stone buildings inside the city walls fall prey to the fire of
1798, which also affects the city hall. In its turn, the population is decimated by the numerous recurrent plague epidemics in 1710, 1719, 1738-1739.7

Despite the unfavourable political situation and the many calamities, the population of Cluj is in a process of numerical growth, doubling from 7500 before 1738, to 14000 in 1835.8
Population growth also directly causes the renewal and expansion of the built-up area affected by the aforementioned fires.
Artificially grafted on the background of the local tradition with a particular preservation of the forms of the late Renaissance, the Baroque style in the 18th century Cluj was directly determined by the Transylvanian political realities.9  Since the very first years after the conquest, the imperial program was clear, above all in architecture, and it would be applied in an exemplary manner in the city whose increasing economic, and especially social-political and cultural importance was about to ensure in 1790 the rank of the seat of the Government.10

Thus, in the first decades of the Habsburg rule over the city, the urban program will be programmatically oriented towards three main objectives, along with the building of noble residences, which were to mark the architecture of the city starting with the eighteenth century:
1.  Building a citadel to accommodate the military garrison needed to control the city (the current

Citadel – „Cetățuia”);

2.  The erection of an imposing Jesuit church, an effective instrument of the imperial power  (the current Piarist Church);
3. The opening of schools designed to form the sons of the nobles as faithful officials of the central power (the current Echinox building). 11


3. THE CITADEL („CETĂȚUIA”)



3.1. HISTORY OF THE CITADEL

This was the political and administrative situation of Transylvania when the military engineer and


7 Ibidem, p. 11.
8 Ibidem, pp. 11-12.
9 Ibidem, p. 20.
10 Idem, „Barocul și neoclasicismul clujean", in Ș tefan Pascu (ed.), Istoria Clujului, Cluj, 1974, p. 247.
11 Idem, Clujul baroc, p. 20.
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fortification architect Giovanni Morando Visconti (1652-1717), a native of Curio, arrived in the region in 1691, who was to be named chief military architect of the principality two years later.
His constructive activity was preceded by a series of topographical and inventory works of the existing fortifications of Transylvania, Banat and a part of Serbia, territories targeted by the ongoing military campaigns alongside a rich explanatory legend, published in 1699 in Sibiu, with the name of "MAPPA  DELLA  TRANSILUANIA".  The  result  of  Visconti's  work  and  of  a  whole  team  of designers and topographers is extremely precise, giving the Austrian superiors up-to-date information on the Transylvanian cities and fortifications.12 Included is the map of Cluj (1699), which reproduces the medieval walls but does not show the citadel. 13

Plan of the city of Cluj, with the first proposal for a Vauban type of fortification, 1691

After revealing 11 existing citadels of the Principality, Giovanni Morando Visconti went on to


12 Nicolae Sabău, „Giova nni Morando Visconti in Transilvania. Intorno a un piano inedito per 'il Castello' din Cluj", in
Nicolae Sabău (ed.), Maestri Ticinesi In Transilvania Tra Cinquecento e Settecento, Editura Mega, Cluj-Napoca, 2007, pp.
56-57.
13	P.  Kovács Klára, „Cetățuia din Cluj-Napoca", în Enciclopedia Virtuală din România”,
 (
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update the modern fortifications program requested by the Viennese Court. The interest for the hill area of Cluj is illustrated by a map representing the settlement at the end of the 18th century, which is located in the War Archives of Vienna, made in 1691, with a legend written in Italian.14
What  we  actually have  here  is the  oldest  proposal  of a  Vauban fortress in  Transylvania,

although its plan is just sketched. One can observe a polygonal plan, elongated on the east-west axis, with 5 wedge-shaped bastions and 5 ravines, without any other constructions being prefigured inside the fortress, a plan that was not implemented, as it was about to be modified soon.


























Giovanni Morando Visconti – Plan of the city of Cluj, with a proposal for a Vauban type of fortification, 1712

The first ensemble project, signed by Giovanni Morando Visconti, dates back to 1712 and is located at the War Archives in Vienna. It includes the plan of the old citadel of Cluj and the proposal to raise the fortification on the hill above the city, called Castello. In the lower right, the text appears:
,,Proposta fatta li. 15 Luglio 1712 da G.M.(oran)do Visconti".15

Visconti therefore began field measurements at the beginning of 1712 for the first Habsburg citadel in Transylvania, and in the summer of the same year he drafted the project mentioned, which was sent for approval to the Viennese authorities. Visconti's project was approved on 27 February
1713 by the Vienna War Council and by its president himself, prince Eugene of Savoy. His opinion also shows the role that this fortification should play in protecting and controlling the urban settlement

http://www.enciclopediavirtuala.ro/monument.php?id=155, accessed on15 July 2017.
14 Nicolae Sabău, op. cit., p. 59.
15 Ibidem, p. 60.



of the utmost importance.16

Giovanni Morando Visconti - Plan of the city of Cluj, 1712- Vauban fortification detail

The plan sized 75x48 cm is drawn with a pen in china and then coloured. The objectives represented are explained in two legends. The translated text on the bottom left side is: „Plan of the city of Cluj, where a proposal for a Castello and a new enclosure for cavalry warehouses and spaces separated from the city can be observed. Explanation for the city: A. The Cathedral Church (sic!) of the Arians. B. Church and College of the Jesuits. C. Church and College of the Lutherans. D. House that serves as a church for Evangelicals. E. The Market and the Guard. F. Old Clausenburg, now called the Old Town. G. The gate called Monastur. H. Mill Gate. I. The gate called the Middle Tower. L. Mills. L. Ruined settlements/suburb destroyed almost entirely”. 1 7

This is the plan of Cluj together with the proposal of a citadel on the hill located north of the city, a Vauban-type of fortification, with an irregular pentagonal plane, elongated on the north-south axis. At the corners there are quite prominent bastions foreseen. The engineer takes advantage of the available ground, inaccessible and steep on the Southern side, facing the Someș River, giving up the

16 P. Kovács Klára, op. cit.
17 Nicolae Sabău, op. cit., p. 61.

BENEFICIARY:  CLUJ-NAPOCA  CITY


regular, complete plan. Instead, the eastern, western and northern sides are strengthened more with a series of advanced fortification works. Especially the eastern area is further strengthened where a bastion (b) and an additional fortification element (c) have been provided for the protection of storehouses and cavalry. The north-eastern area is carefully studied here, and a bastion that has been a cavalier of these vast fortifications - indicated by a dotted line - was to be united with the walls of the city. According to this project, the entire northern side of the old city of Cluj was to be demolished, allowing for free access to the new Vauban fortress on the left bank of the Someș River. The city was to communicate with the medieval fortress of the city, which was still in operation at the end of the 17th century, although the old courtyards reinforced by 22 towers and bastions no longer corresponded to the modern defence concept. The old fortress was to be linked to the citadel with one wall on the eastern and western sides, crossing the Mill channel and Someș River.18


Plan of the city of Cluj and of the Citadel, 1718


18 Ibidem, p. 62.
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Inside the new fortress, two large elongated buildings were to be built, alongside seven  smaller buildings, located mostly in the eastern area, to be used by the cavalry unit stationed here. 19

The  works,  started  with  a  two-year  delay  from the  time  of  the  imperial  agreement,  took  place intermittently. At a festivity, on 30 May 1715, the ground digging began, but in April 1717 Giovanni
Morando Visconti died, so the site was interrupted.20


 (
,
)There is a plan dating back to 1718 in the War Archives in Vienna21

which presents the old city of


Cluj and the new fortress of Vauban type, but with an important modification of the project, which will no longer respect the complexity of the original one. Thus, the new fortress has a polygonal plan, elongated in the north-south direction, with 5 feather-shaped bastions and a ravine on the west side, but the initially designed advanced fortification elements are missing, and so are the connecting walls with the old fortress.




































Plan of the city of Cluj and of the Citadel, 1718


19 Ibidem.
20 Ibidem, p. 63.
21 Ibidem, p. 59.



 (
.
)The works are resumed at a sustained pace in the years 1721-172322

Another plan of the citadel, made in 1734 at the initiative of Colonel Johann Konrad Weiss, director of the imperial citadels in Transylvania in the third decade of the 18th century, shows about the same type of fortification. To this, he adds a proposal to strengthen the western area with an independent outpost, in the form of an ensemble, feather-shaped bastion, respectively instead of the two connecting walls with the city, he prefigured a hardened road that descended to Someș and linked the two banks of the river through the Bridge of the Germans.23 Neither this plan was executed, the works being completed in 1735, in a simplified form.


Plan of the Citadel, 1750


22 Mircea Țoca, Clujul baroc, p. 21.
23 Nicolae Sabău, op. cit., p. 59.
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The most accurate representation of the fortification in the form in which it was completed is that of 1750, found in the National Archives of Budapest. Extremely detailed and accompanied by an explanatory legend in German, the map includes all the defensive elements that were eventually built alongside the edifices raised inside the enclosure and their functions.24
Thus, the city of Cluj was built according to an irregular polygonal plan, elongated on the north-

south axis, with four bastions in the shape of a feather (I, II, III, IV) and a ravine in the west side (VI), to the south there was an area connected with the abrupt slope - Anschluss an das Präcipisse (V). The access was made through three gates (from the east - the Water Gate, Wasser Thor B, from the north - the Vienna Gate, Wiener Thor A, from the west - the Gate of Ravelin VI, Thor so vermahlen zum Ravelin N.VI). With the letter D and E there is the wooden bridge connecting the two sides of the Someș River - the Bridge of the Germans, respectively the access stairs to the Water Gate.


The Citadel on the First Military Topographic Survey (1763-1787)

On the same map of 1750, the buildings and the functions of the edifices built inside the premises that served the military garrison quartered here are mentioned: the headquarters (C.I.), the offices of the officials (A.I. and B.I.), the ammunition store - Pulver Magazin (F), stables for officials' horses and remise for harnesses and teams - Officiers Stallung und Wagen Remise (G), old barracks -

24 Ibidem, p. 64.
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 (
.
)Other  Caserne  (H), closet -  Privette  (K),  the citadel fountain - Citadell Brunn (M), the warehouse of supplies and the oven - Milit. Verpflegs Bäkerey (N), cereal storage - Milit. Verpflegs Schüttboden (O) 25






I  •


























r....-.
The Citadel on the Second Military Topographic Survey (1806-1869)






















Photography inside the Citadel at 1916


25  Mircea Țoca, Clujul baroc, p. 24.
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Plan of the Citadel in 1902
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Plan of the Citadel at 1917
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Aerial photography of the citadel in 1975









Plan of the Citadel in 1941
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Thus, the fortress built by the Austrians in Cluj is the oldest ensemble of lay baroque architecture preserved in Transylvania, being the first of the fortifications built here in the 18th century.
The citadel did not play an important role in the Principality's defence system in the event of an external attack, but was primarily intended to ensure an effective control over Cluj.26  The earth wave and, in general, the lack of a solid fortification system could not provide the ensemble with an effective role in the case of a massive attack, but it could prevent any attempt of disobedience or rebellion of Cluj under the conditions of the annulment of the military function of the bastions and towers of the old medieval premises of the city and the exceptional strategic position of the fortress built by the Austrians, which dominates the whole nucleus of Cluj.27
Therefore, the Vauban type of fortress of Cluj had been built since 1715, followed by the much wider

citadel of Alba Julia. Vauban type of fortresses were also designed for the defence of Fagaras and Sibiu, but their construction was abandoned later on. 28
The plan of Cluj from the middle of the 18th century represents the finished Cetățuia, in a slightly

different form, something simpler than the original project. It preserved the irregular pentagonal disposition, instead simplified the system of advanced fortification works and its connection with the medieval premises of Cluj was also abandoned. The ensemble was defended by earthworks, earless bastions on four corners, and a semi bastion on the south-west side, linked by a simple earth wave. The dry ditch in front of the bastions was followed outward by a covered road and a glacis, except for the southern side, more protected by the steep slope of the hill. A ravine was built on the northwest side. The fortress had three gates on the eastern, western and northern sides. Inside the fortified enclosure a series of buildings were built to meet the needs of the  garrison  installed  in  the  citadel:  barracks,  ammunition  depots,  food  stores,  buildings  for  the headquarters.29
Between the north-eastern and northeast bastions, historiography states that there is also a narrow

corridor of access to the citadel, cut into the thickness of the earth wave and covered with a flattened vault.30
Because of the steep, inaccessible terrain, the earth wave was no longer built in the south-east corner.31

Without being able to establish an exact timeline of theirs, specialized historiography considers that works for the fortification itself took place in two to four stages. First the earth waves, access gates, and outer portions of the corridors were made. Then the feather-shaped ground bastions were made, adding the inside

26 Ibidem, p. 21.
27 Ibidem.
28 P. Kovacs  Klára, op. cit .
29 Ibidem.
30 Ibidem.
31 Mircea Țoca, Clujul baroc, p. 21.


          18                                                                                                                                                  HISTORICAL  STUDY - CLUJ-NAPOCA CITADEL,
BENEFICIARY:  CLUJ-NAPOCA  CITY



portions of the corridors, and the quadrilateral bodies of the gates were raised on top of them.32  In the space bounded  by  the  earth  wave  the  buildings  intended  for  the  barracks,  workshops,  warehouses,  powder magazine etc. were erected.33
The eastern gate – the access corridor: the wider part probably belongs to a later phase of the construction, when a building wing was erected to the inside corresponding to this part.34
The northern gate - in this case, too, there are two phases that can be observed in the construction of the two portions of the access corridor. The older one is the exterior section – showing in the walls the grooves where the chains were running to operate the gates - covered with a cylindrical flattened vault (which was rebuilt on the outside, on a portion of about 1.5 m, in the 20th century), shorter than the other portion to which it has an arch with a marked the median arch keystone. This arch keystone was covered in part when the newer part was built inwards.35 At present, rehabilitation works are being carried out on this wing.

The appearance of the western gate has long been unknown, because it has collapsed due to a landslide. During a consolidation work, a wall was erected at the outward end of the corridor. Here again, the newer part of the corridor was included in the rectangular building wing.36 At present, rehabilitation works are being carried out on this wing, which also aim at rebuilding the corridor and the gate.
In the area bounded by the northern and northeast bastions is the building that housed the powder magazine. On the southern side, unbalanced, was the door with a stone frame having a prominent medial arch keystone, having the figures of the year 1718 carved in it.37
Another building structure preserved to date is the one located north of the Water Gate, which had the

cereal storage function. It was recently rehabilitated, receiving the design workshop function.

All the other buildings mentioned above and inside the premises until the middle of the 20th century were removed during the construction of the Belvedere Hotel in the years 1969-1970 and the arrangement of a parking lot north of it, namely a paved street for road access.
In the western area of the citadel, on the ravine, the Parachute Jumper Tower was previously erected. Unfortunately, since the middle of the 20th century, Cetățuia has been continuously assaulted by the
fragmentation of property, respectively the abandonment of historical elements, the arrangements improper


32 Ibidem, p. 23.
33 Ibidem.
34 Ibidem, p. 22.
35 Ibidem.
36 Ibidem.
37 Ibidem.
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for a historical monument site and the lack of maintenance of the green spaces, resulting in a desolate appearance of the ensemble and the degradation of the original elements still preserved.


Setateri bejarat. 	Kolozsvar.


























View to the Citadel at the beginning of the 20th century


View to the Citadel after the Belvedere Hotel was built
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View to the Citadel in the 1960s


View to the Citadel in the 1980s
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3.2. LOCATION, PLANIMETRY AND VOLUMES

The Citadel situated north of the historic centre was built on the hill Kömál, a 60 meter terrace above Someș, which is also the interfluve between the Someș valley and the Nadăș creek, which are dominated by the fortification. This interfluve has steep slopes (40-50 °) to the south and east, hardly accessible, and forested areas to the west.38 Nowadays, the hill on which the fortress is situated took its name, being part of the Gruia neighbourhood, where residential villas that surround the ensemble today were built starting with the end of the 19th century.
The ensemble of the fortifications was unitary in the form of a simple earth-wave enclosure, with the plan forming an irregular five-sided polygon elongated on the north-south axis. Four prominent bastions were built in the corners. Because of the steep, inaccessible terrain, the south-east corner has no longer been built.39 In the other portions, a glacis was arranged in front of the waves and bastions. 40 In the eastern, northeast and west portions, the wave was crossed by three monumental gates, included in the upper floor buildings, austere in appearance, serving as headquarters and offices of officers.41 The eastern gate is at the end of a sloping road to which it connects through the steps. In the western part of the fortress a ravine was built, on which the Parachute Jumper Tower was built.
Along with the gate buildings, there are still two historic buildings inside the enclosure, the former ammunition depot and the former grain warehouse. The other edifices disappeared after the mid-twentieth century, when the Belvedere Hotel was built on the south side of the fortress and the parking and the road access to it were arranged.


3.3. FORTIFICATION ELEMENTS

The Eastern Gate of the fortress, situated at the end of the steps that start from Dragalina Street, is preceded by two massive counterforts made of rough-squared stone that support the cut in the earth wave. The entrance, in the shape of a basket handle, is flanked by two pilasters, without column heads, united above the arch by a horizontal flat arch, covered by a cornice with the curved profile inward, to drain the water.
Partially cut into the thickness of the earth wave, the access corridor has a narrower outward portion and a wider portion towards the inside of the fortress, both of which are covered with baroque vaults with the profile in the basket handle. The wider part probably belongs to a later phase of the construction, when a building structure with two levels was erected inwards, in the correspondence of this part, with simple and



38  Ibidem, p. 21.
39 Ibidem.
40 Ibidem.
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functional shapes, with a vaulted ground floor and ceiled upper floor.42     Upstairs the windows are devoid of enclosures, instead, the ones on the ground floor from the inside of the fortress, have quadrangle shaped stone frames.

The Eastern Gate seen from the inside


The vaulted corridor of the Eastern Gate	Southern counterfort and frame of the Eastern Gate

The  roof  of  the  building  is  in  four  waters,  with  a  tiled  roof  covering  pierced  by masonry chimneys.


 (
'
)41 Ibidem.
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The state of preservation of the edifice is extremely precarious. Unused nowadays, the building has multiple degradations in the access corridor. The stones of the counterforts are dislocated, the joints are ground, and the frame of the gate is deteriorated, in a powdery state. The corridor walls and vault also feature dislocated stones, while moisture affects the walls to the floor level.

The upper floor of the Eastern Gate seen	The upper floor of the Eastern Gate seen from the Southwest		from the Northeast


The Northern Gate has an outward appearance similar to that of the Eastern Gate, with the opening in the shape of a basket handle and pillars without column heads, united by a horizontal flat arch. Above the cornice with a curved profile there is a brick fronton, arched in the centre and tied in the ends with the upper part of the counterforts in front of the cuts in the earth wave. In this case, too, two phases can be observed in the construction of the two portions of the access corridor. The older part is the exterior part - showing in the walls the grooves where the chains were running to operate the gates - covered with a cylindrical flattened vault (which was rebuilt on the outside, on a portion of about 1.5 m, in the 20th century), shorter than the other portion to which it has an arch with a marked the median arch keystone.43  This arch brick was covered in part when the newer part was built inwards, provided with a cylindrical vault with penetrations that do not meet in the shaft. The newer part of the corridor was included in the two-level building body, elevated above. In this building, the ground floor rooms are all covered with flattened cylindrical vaults, with penetrations that do not meet in the shaft, while all the rooms on the floor are having a ceiling. The doors through which the corridor enters the ground floor rooms have quadruple frames, carved from the stone. From inside the fortification, on steps that flank the eastern wall of the building, one can reach the small plateau set up in front of the floor, facing outwards. Access to the rooms on the upper floor is made by two doors. To the courtyard, the floor has three windows, and on the sides two, all equipped with rectangular frames moulded from mortar.

2 Ibidem, p. 22.
43 Ibidem.
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Rehabilitation works of this building are being currently carried out.



The Northern Gate seen from the south



The Northern Gate seen from the northwest

Corridor of the Northern Gate


Exterior frame of the Northern Gate



The appearance of the Western Gate was unknown for a long time, because it has collapsed due to landslides. During some consolidation works, a wall was erected at the exterior end of the corridor. Here, too, the newer portion of the corridor was included in the rectangular building.44 In this part the corridor is covered by a cylindrical vault, and in the one from the inside, which is clearly wider, with a hollow cylindrical vault, with penetrations that meet in the shaft. Underneath each penetration there is an entrance to the rooms of the ground floor, all covered with cylindrical vaults with penetrations, which meet in the median shaft. Here also, the newer part of the corridor was included in the rectangular building. The upper floor has three rooms: that of the median axis is covered with a cylindrical vault with three pairs of penetrations, under which there are as many doors so as to ensure, from one side to the other, the access to a relatively flat side room with ceiling that is relatively simple.45


44 Ibidem.
45 Ibid em, p. 23.
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Rehabilitation works are being currently carried out, aimed at reconstructing the corridor and the gate.




The Western Gate seen from the Southeast


The eastern façade of the Western Gate

The former entrance from the West – later embedded



Rehabilitation works at present



Historiography specifies between the north and northeast bastions the existence of a narrow access corridor to the  fortress,  cut in the  thickness of the earth  wave, and covered  with a  flat cylindrical stone vault. Inside, this corridor corresponds to a semi-circular frame carved in stone, while only traces of such an enclosure are preserved on the outside.46


The west, north and northeast bastions, and the west ravine and ditch of the citadel are still preserved today from the initial fortification elements.

Unfortunately, the way in which they present themselves is unsatisfactory, their arrangement is obsolete and outdated, and their maintenance is lacking. Developed as a promenade at the end of the
20th century, there is one alley with concrete slabs that reconstructs a trail on top of the earth wave,

26	HISTORICAL  STUDY - CLUJ-NAPOCA CITADEL,
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uniting the three gates through the outside and the three bastions. The alley is flanked by rows of shrubs and a hedge, which obstructs the view and does not allow an  overall perception of the historical elements. Moreover, the promenade is interrupted on many portions, with areas where the
earth wave has collapsed, slabs are missing or broken, and the uncontrolled vegetation has invaded the perspective points.




The Northern Bastion - alley


The Northern Bastion partially collapsed

The Northern Bastion - alley




Garages arranged in the ditch on the eastern side


The ditch of the fortress, which has been preserved on the western and northern sides, is completely unexploited, invaded by abundant vegetation that does not allow access.

46 Ibidem.



On the eastern side, to Cetății Street, the ditch was partially occupied by garages built over the

last decades.
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The ditch of the fortress on the north side


The ditch of the fortress on the north side invaded by vegetation

The ditch of the fortress on the west side with outdated arrangements

The ditch of the fortress on the north side


The ditch of the fortress – view to the
Western Gate


The west ravine completely unmarked





3.4. OTHER EDIFICES


In the area bounded by the earth wave, a series of buildings were erected for the barracks, workshops, warehouses, powder magazine, etc. Functional, devoid of articulation elements and decoration, these buildings also lack stylistic elements that allow a specification of the chronology.47
Of these, so far only two have been preserved: the former powder magazine and the former grain storage. The Parachute Jumper Tower was built on the west ravine, and the other buildings, located in the southern and central part of the enclosure, were removed during the construction of the
Belvedere Hotel and while arranging the parking and the access road located north to it.




The former grain warehouse seen from the southwest

To the right of the main east entrance was a massive body that had the cereal storage function. The building has an oblong quadrilateral plan with two levels and a high roof. The doors and windows (six on the long eastern and western sides, four on the other sides) have simple, rectangular stone

47 Ibidem.



frames similar to those on the upper floor of the building from the northern gate. Characteristic is the roof,  with  relatively  wide  skylights,  arranged  in  two  rows,  five  in  the  east  and  west  slopes, respectively three in the other slopes.
This edifice has been recently rehabilitated, receiving the design workshop function.




Former powder magazine seen from the southwest



In the space bounded by the northern and northeast bastions was the building that sheltered the powder magazine. The unplastered walls are made up of fragments of rough-squared stone, which, on the short sides, climb up below the crest of the roof with two slopes. The windows are few and have quadrangle frames carved of stone. On the southern side, off-axis, there was the door with a stone frame: in a quadrangle frame, with margins marked by an embossed flat arch, there is an entrance with a basket handle-shaped arch and a prominent medial arch keystone, on which the figures of the year
1718 are carved in relief. The interior has a large half-cylindrical vault, made of stone.48


48 Ibidem.





4. INVENTORY OF VALUABLES OF THE ENSEMBLE



The ensemble of the Citadel of Cluj was the first Vauban type of fortification built by the Austrians in Transylvania, according to the plans of the military engineer Giovanni Morando Visconti, in the period
1715-1735. Despite all the losses suffered in the 20th century, the fortress survived the demolition tendency of the fortified enclosures of Transylvania, representing an inestimable value due to its age. The ensemble is considered a valuable document due to the fact that its architectural forms reveal historical realities, construction techniques, defence strategies and their evolution over time.


Curtains and ditches:

-Earth wave preceded by a dry ditch and a glacis.



Bastions and ravines:

- The volumetry and location of each bastion (northwest, north and northeast), feather-shaped, within

the architectural ensemble of the Citadel of Cluj („Cetățuia Clujului”);

- Volumetry and location of the western ravine.



Gates, access corridors to the citadel and historic buildings preserved inside it:

- Volumetry and location of the three access gates to the citadel: The Eastern Gate (Water Gate) at the end of the stairs that start from Dragalina Street; The Northern Gate (Gate of Vienna) located on the northern side of the fortress, towards Călăraşilor Street; The Western Gate on the ravine on which the Parachute Jumper Tower was built;
- The historic partitioning system of the floors of the three gates, with vaulted rooms on the ground floor and rooms with ceiling on the upper floor;
- The load-bearing structure of the gates: walls, brick vaults, wooden floors, roof frames covered

with scale tiles;

- The original frames made of stone and mortar of the building holes of the three gates and of those inside the enclosure (former ammunition and grain stores);
- The stone frame of the powder magazine door has a particular historical value, as it is engraved with the year 1718.
 (
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5. RECOMMENDATIONS



In the event of the launching of the works in this ensemble, our recommendations refer in particular to preserving the cultural and architectural landscape of the Citadel of Cluj unaltered by preserving the whole of the fortress in its existing form and only by minimal conservation and consolidation interventions required by the state of degradation of some of the elements, that of highlighting the original elements that are completely "invisible" at present.
The presence of an archaeologist on the site is mandatory in this case.



Recommendations:

- Removal of the abundant and parasitic vegetation in the immediate vicinity of the earth wave and the ditch of the citadel; their maintenance and periodic cleaning to prevent the recurrence of parasitic vegetation;
- Repairing the areas where the earth wave or fragments of bastions have collapsed, with similar constructive methods;
- Highlighting the promenade trail joining the three gates and the tree preserved bastions;

-	Highlighting the ditch of the citadel by cleaning the abundant vegetation, equipping it with furniture specific to green spaces and making a promenade circuit that descends to these areas too;
- Dismantling the garages built in the ditch on the east side;

- Highlighting the west ravine by making a promenade circuit that also includes this area;

- Rehabilitation of the Eastern Gate, which is in a state of severe degradation – providing a function that allows its proper maintenance in the future; Cleaning and restoration of masonry joints with a mortar that is  compatible  with  historical  buildings;  Removal  of  the  previous  reinforcements  that  are  degraded  or damaging the wall (cement-based mortar joints, exfoliated and wet plasters etc.); Replacement of the metallic grids and degraded carpentry with others that are stylistically and aesthetically suited to the ensemble of which they are part;
- Highlighting the various original elements (holes, discharging arches, crowns of fortification elements)
- Placement of informative pieces for tourists and citizens who frequently visit the ensemble, but do



not know the history and appearance of the old Citadel (models etc.).

- Continuing the research during the works, in order to complete this study with the new information that will certainly occur in the next stages.
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